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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
The Directors of Magnum Gas & Power Limited (‘Magnum’ or ‘the Company’) submit herewith 
the annual financial report of the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2017. In order 
to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors’ report as follows: 
 
Overview of Operations 
 
Magnum Gas & Power Limited is an Australian-based energy and gas resources exploration 
and development company, working to develop gas exploration and production projects. The 
Company is currently focused on its investment in the Tulainyo Gas Project in California, 
which is the subject of the Company’s shareholding in Gasfields LLC. Additionally, the 
Company remains invested in Botswana via its farm-out to Strata-X Australia Pty Limited, a 
subsidiary of ASX listed company, Strata-X Energy Limited 
 
 
The Company’s goal is to foster and develop shareholder value through expanding and 
developing its energy and gas interests both in Australia and internationally. Throughout the 
financial year, the Company focussed on this goal, continuing to source and evaluate 
acquisition opportunities to add to the Company’s portfolio of energy and exploration assets.  
 
Tulainyo Gas Project: 
 
On 5 June 2017, the Company announced that it signed an agreement to invest in the 
Tulainyo Gas Discovery in the Sacramento Basin in California, United States of America.  
 
The Company has signed a binding letter of intent (LOI) with Gasfields LLC (Gasfields), 
Bombora Natural Energy Pty Ltd (a subsidiary of Pancontinental Oil & Gas NL) (Bombora), 
and United Energy Royalties Pty Ltd, pursuant to which the Company will have the opportunity 
to earn up to a 60% economic interest in Gasfields. Bombora will retain the remaining 40% 
economic interest.  Gasfields has the rights to farm-in to the Tulainyo Gas Discovery 
(Tulainyo Project)(Refer to Figure 1), to earn up to 33.33% of that project. 
 
Gasfields is a limited liability company incorporated in the United States of America.  
Gasfields has a farm-in agreement with Cirque Resources LP and California Resources 
Production Corporation, the project operator and a subsidiary of a substantial, New York 
Stock Exchange listed oil and gas production company. According to the Tulainyo Farm-in 
Agreement, Gasfields has the right to earn and acquire, subject to it meeting certain funding 
requirements, the following farm-in interests in the Tulainyo Project, in three separate stages, 
as follows:  

 
a) (Initial Well Farm-in Interest): A 10% interest in gas reservoirs in the south block of 

the Tulainyo Project penetrated by an initial well to be drilled;  
 

b) (Second Well Farm-in Interest): A 33.33% interest in gas reservoirs in the south 
block of the Tulainyo Project penetrated by the initial and second wells to be drilled; 
and 

 
c) (North Block Well Farm-in Interest): A 33.33% interest in gas reservoirs in the north 

block of the Tulainyo Project penetrated by a well to be drilled in the north block. 
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Figure 1 Location of the Tulainyo Gas Discovery 

 
The terms of Magnum’s investment in Gasfields require Magnum to, by assisting Gasfields to 
satisfy its funding obligations under the Tulainyo Farm-in Agreement, subscribe for a 60% 
shareholding in Gasfields in return for the acquisition of:  
 

a) a 60% economic interest in the Initial Well Farm-in Interest; and 
  

b) the right to earn a further 60% economic interest in the Second Well Farm-in Interest 
and the North Block Well Farm-in Interest. 

 

The remaining 40% economic interest will continue to be held by Bombora.  Magnum was 
required to pay to Gasfields, by way of equity subscription and shareholder loans, US$3.4 
million towards satisfying the conditions of the Tulainyo Farm In Agreement. These funds are 
to be used to cover the majority of the costs of the initial farm-in well. Drilling is expected to 
commence in October 2017.  Additionally, as the farm-in progresses, Gasfields is required 
to contribute to the drilling of further wells; funds to which the Company will contribute 
proportionately to its 60% shareholding.  

 
Gasfields is also required to pay a royalty to United Energy Royalties Pty Ltd in respect of 
Gasfields’ potential 33.33% interest in Tulainyo. This royalty is equal to 3.5% of the wellhead 
value of all hydrocarbons and other valuable product produced at or from the exploration or 
production leases that Gasfields acquires and is net of the joint venture ownership of the 
leases and net of Gasfields earned position. 
 
 
Strata-X Farm-In Agreement: 
 
The Company has had a strong focus on Botswana since 2012.  Magnum’s current 
Botswanan exploration portfolio consists of multiple prospecting licenses focused on two 



 

  5 
 
 

 
separate project areas, Central and Northern, within the overall Kalahari basin of Botswana 
Africa. In December 2016, the Company entered a farm-in agreement with Strata-X Energy 
Limited (ASX:SXA) via which SXA would have the opportunity to earn up to a 75% interest in 
the Company’s Serowe CBM projects, namely prospecting licenses 352/2008 and 353/2008 
(Serowe Project) (Refer to Figure 2).   
 
The farm-in is to take place in three stages, over a period of three years.  The farm-in is 
presently being undertaken by a Botswana-based operating subsidiary called Rhino CBM 
(Pty) Ltd (Rhino).  Following the completion of each stage (set out below), Strata-X Limited 
will earn a 25% working interest in the Serowe Project.  

 
Stage 1:  
Stage 1 is a firm commitment, during which Strata-X will conduct the desorption analysis of 
at least two existing core wells and the drilling of one completion and production test well, as 
required for continued gas resource certification. Strata-X will also complete and production 
test one well.   

 
Stage 2:  
Stage 2 is an optional stage which Strata-X may choose to undertake depending on the 
success of Stage 1. Stage 2 will involve Strata-X earning a further 25% of the Serowe Projects 
by conducting tests of three core wells, and completing and production testing a further two 
wells, at an estimated cost to Strata-X of A$1.5 million.  
 
Stage 3:  
Stage 3 is an optional stage which SXA may choose to undertake depending on the success 
of Stage 2. SXA will earn a further 25% of the Serowe Projects when 100 PJ of 2P reserves 
are certified for the Serowe Projects, which will be sufficient gas for a final investment decision 
in relation to a gas sales agreement to supply a 50 megawatt power station near the Serowe 
Projects.  

 
If SXA does not proceed with Stages 2 or 3, the Company’s percentage ownership of Rhino 
will increase.   
 

      Figure 2: Botswana permits 
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Other proposed transactions 
 
As mentioned, throughout the financial year, the Company pursued and evaluated a number 
of proposed acquisitions or joint venture transactions to complement its strategy of 
diversifying its portfolio of energy assets.  As announced to the market, the following 
transactions were pursued by the Company throughout the year, but were terminated prior to 
eventuating:  
 

- Acquisition of Bombora Natural Energy Pty Ltd (Bombora): In February 2017 the 
Company signed, and announced, a share sale agreement to purchase all of the 
issued capital in Bombora.  As announced in April 2017, the Company and Bombora 
came to the mutual agreement that certain conditions precedent provided for in the 
share sale agreement could not be satisfied and neither party was willing to waive or 
otherwise modify their respective rights under the share sale agreement in regard to 
the satisfaction of those conditions precedent. The Company terminated the share 
sale agreement and consequently the acquisition of Bombora did not occur, however 
the Company has since attained an interest in and exposure to the Tulainyo Gas 
Project via its investment in Gasfields LLC. 
 

- Farm-in to the Dempsey Gas Project: In May 2017, the Company entered a farm-in 
agreement with Sacgasco Limited (ASX: SGC) to farm-in to SGC’s Dempsey Gas 
Project, in the Sacramento Basin in California, USA. Under the agreement Magnum 
was to earn a 5% working interest in the project, in return for funding of $650,000 
towards the first well.  As announced on 22 June 2017, the farm-in agreement with 
Sacgasco Limited, for the Dempsey Gas Project (also in the Sacramento Basin in 
California) was terminated, allowing the Company to focus its efforts, both strategically 
and financially, on its investment in the Tulainyo Project. 

 
Exploration Permits 

Prospecting 
Licence 

Botswana Project 
Area 

Size (km2) Magnum Interest 

352/20081 
Central CBM 

Project 
694 25%1 

353/20081 
Central CBM 

Project 
511 25%1 

644/2009 
Northern CBM 

Project 
479 100% 

645/2009 
Northern CBM 

Project 
653 100% 

1. Subject to Farm-in Agreement under which Strata X has the opportunity to earn up 
to 75%. If Strata-X does not proceed with the full farm-in, the Company’s interest will 
increase accordingly.  

 
 
Corporate 
 
Management restructure 
During the financial year, the Company underwent a significant management restructure 
which saw the appointment of Nathan Featherby as Executive Chairman of the Company, 
and the resignation from the Board of Brett Montgomery, Raalin Wheeler, Trent Wheeler and 
Thomas Fontaine.  
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Throughout the financial year, the Board welcomed the addition of Saxon Ball, David Scoggin 
and Nicholas Halliday to the Company as non-executive directors and Kar Chua as Company 
Secretary. Further details of the Company’s Board and management team is provided within 
the remuneration report.  

Capital Raising 
As announced to the market on 1 August 2016, the Company entered a convertible note 
agreement with a Malaysian investor, for an investment of A$300,000. On 30 August 2016, 
the Company announced that it had not received funds under the convertible loan facility 
following a draw-down request, and that the agreement had not been completed. 

Early in the financial year the Company conducted an underwritten Rights Issue on the basis 
of two new shares for every one existing share held by eligible shareholders. The Rights Issue 
raised A$1,764,751 (before costs).  

The Company also conducted a number of placements as follows: 
1) In December 2016 and January 2017, a placement under which the Company raised

approximately A$1.7 million via the issue of shares in the Company at $0.001 per
share, which were issued in two tranches, in December 2016 (using the Company’s
placement capacity) and February 2017 (following shareholder approval). These
funds were used for the purpose of repaying creditors, pursuing acquisition
opportunities, finalising the farm-in arrangements with Strata-X and adhering to the
Company’s commitments in Botswana.

2) In June 2017, the Company conducted a placement at $0.0015 per share, which
raised approximately $A1.118 million (before costs), which was issued in two
tranches, in June 2017 (using the Company’s placement capacity) and July 2017
(following shareholder approval). These funds were used to further the Tulainyo
Project investment, to adhere to the Company’s commitments in Botswana and for
working capital purposes.

Subsequent Events 

Following the end of the financial year, the following events have taken place in respect of the 
Company: 

In July 2017, the Company announced that it had signed an underwriting agreement with 
Perth-based broker, DJ Carmichael Pty Ltd, to underwrite a placement to sophisticated 
investors for A$2.75 million. The Company also announced it received commitments to place 
up to a further A$1.25 million. The shares, priced at $0.0015 and each with one attaching 
option, unquoted with an exercise price of $0.0025 and expiry date of 2 August 2019, were 
issued following shareholder approval at an extraordinary general meeting on 31 July 2017. 
The A$4.0 million raised under this Placement were used for the purposes of meeting the 
Company’s initial commitments for its investment in the Tulainyo Project.  

A cleansing prospectus was issued 2 August 2017 for 10,000 shares at $0.00125 
raising $12.50.  

On 4 September 2017, the Company announced the exercise of 25,000,000 unquoted options 
(at $0.002 per option) for the issue of 25,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares.  The Company 
was paid $50,000 upon this exercise.   
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On 28 September 2017, the Company announced that it has conducted a strategic placement 
to sophisticated and professional investors, raising approximately A$500,000 via the issue of 
approximately 333 million shares at $0.0015 per share, each with one attaching MPEO option, 
exercisable at $0.003 and expiring on 31 October 2020. 
 
Other material matters 
 
Other than the above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the period and 
the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material or unusual nature likely, in 
the opinion of the Directors of the Company to affect substantially the operations of the 
Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent 
financial years. 
 
Financial Results 
 
For the financial year reporting period ending 30 June 2017, the Group recorded a loss of 
$2,370,837 (31 June 2016: loss $6,734,407). 
 
The Group incurred exploration and development expenditure of $165,923 during the financial 
year ending 30 June 2017 (30 June 2016 $34,577). The total net assets of the Group stands 
at $5,498,198 (June 2016: $2,909,866) of which investment in exploration expenditure 
accounts for $4,298,662 (June 2016: $4,085,715).  
 
Future Development  
 
The Company expects to add value through the continued focus on its exploration activities 
in the Tulainyo Gas Project and by acquiring complementary assets and investments both in 
Australia and internationally, in line with its previously announced value-adding strategy.  
 
Dividends  
 
No dividend has been declared for the year, and the Directors do not recommend the payment 
of a dividend in respect of the financial year (2016: $nil). 
 
Environmental Regulation 
 
The operations of the Group is within Australia and Botswana and due to its current 
operations is not subject to any specific environmental laws. The Group is not aware of any 
breach of any environmental regulations during or since the end of the financial year from its 
activities. 
 
Information about Directors and the Senior Management 
 
The names of the Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 

 Mr N Featherby Executive Chairman (Appointed 29 September 2016) 

 Mr S Ball Non-executive Director (Appointed 3 November 2016) 

 Mr D Scoggin Non-executive Director (Appointed 19 December 2016) 

 Mr N Halliday Non-executive Director (Appointed 19 December 2016) 

 Mr T Fontaine Non-executive Chairman (Resigned 19 December 2016) 

 Mr T Wheeler Managing Director (Resigned 7 November 2016) 

 Mr R Wheeler Non-executive Director (Resigned 4 November 2016) 

 Mr B Montgomery Non-executive Director (Resigned 19 August 2016) 
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Board Changes 
 
The composition and particulars of the Board during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 
Nathan Featherby – Executive Chairman  
 
Nathan Featherby was appointed as a non-executive director in September of 2016, and 
was appointed Executive Chairman in November 2016. Mr Featherby has a Bachelor of 
Commerce from Curtin University, and has spent most of his career in stockbroking and 
merchant banking, with a focus on small-to-medium mining and exploration companies. Mr 
Featherby is also a director of Ochre Group Holdings Limited and ATC Alloys Limited. 
 
Directorships of other listed companies in last 3 years for Nathan Featherby are as follows: 
 

Company Period of directorship 

Ochre Group Holdings Limited 15 March 2011 – to date 

ATC Alloys Limited  18 November 2016 – to date 

Ascot Resources Limited (de-listed in 
2015) 

22 October 2014 – to date  

Silver Mines Limited 23 October 2014 – 26 August 2016  

Clancy Exploration Limited   22 October 2014 – 7 July 2016 

 
David Scoggin – Non-Executive Director  
 
David Scoggin has a Bachelor of Arts from Princeton University, majoring in international 
relations and finance. He currently works in the international finance industry as a senior 
trader/ portfolio manager, specialising in mergers and acquisitions analysis and risk 
assessment, with a particular focus on the Australian natural resources industry. 
 
Directorships of other listed companies in last 3 years for David Scoggin are as follows: 
 

Company Period of directorship 

Clancy Exploration Limited   31 March 2016 – to date 

Rision Limited 5 March 2014 – 2 February 2016 

 
Nicholas Halliday – Non-Executive Director  
 
Nicholas Halliday has a bachelor of Management and a Masters in Commerce from the 
University of Sydney, with a background in financial services and advisory. He is a director 
of listed company ATC Alloys Limited and has substantial experience in business 
development, risk management and finance, working with multiple listed resource 
companies in these capacities. The Board believes he will be integral to the Company in 
implementing future development strategies. 
 
Directorships of other listed companies in last 3 years for Nicholas Halliday are as follows: 
 

Company Period of directorship 

ATC Alloys Limited  10 March 2017 - to date 
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Saxon Ball – Non-Executive Director  
 
Saxon Ball is a current non-executive director of Ochre Group Holdings Limited, ATC Alloys 
Limited and a director of STB Projects Pty Ltd, an Australian private company focused on 
infrastructure installation services and development within the natural resources sector. His 
previous experience includes a non-executive directorship of Silver Mines Limited. 
 
Directorships of other listed companies in last 3 years for Saxon Ball are as follows: 
 

Company Period of directorship 

ATC Alloys Limited  23 December 2016 - to date 

Ochre Group Holdings Limited 22 July 2016 – to date  

Silver Mines Limited 7 April 2016 – 20 June 2016 

 
 
During the financial year, Mr Thomas Fontaine, Mr Trent Wheeler, Mr Raalin Wheeler and Mr 
Brett Montgomery resigned from their positions on the Board. 
 
Company Secretary 
 
Kar Chua – Company Secretary  
 
Mr Kar Chua has a Bachelor of Accounting and Finance and is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Australia. He has a range of experience assisting a number of ASX 
listed companies with their reporting and accounting functions, in addition to having a 
background in reporting responsibilities for a subsidiary of a substantial multi-national 
company.  
 
Director’s Shareholdings  
 
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in shares and options in shares 
of the Group as at the date of this report: 
 

Name Number of shares Number of options 

Mr N Featherby - - 

Mr S Ball – indirect  10,000,000 - 

Mr N Halliday – direct    10,000,000 - 

Mr D Scoggin – indirect  114,574,889 52,500,000 

 
Remuneration of Key Management Personnel  
 
Information about the remuneration of Key Management Personnel is set out below in the 
remuneration report which forms part of the Directors’ Report. 
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Share Options 
 
At the date of this report, there were 2,417,075,706 quoted options and 4,475,000,000 
unquoted options as per the table below: 
 
Options Exercise Price 

per Option 
Expiring on or 
before 

Quotation 

2,417,075,706 $0.003 31 October 2020 Quoted 
4,200,000,000 $0.0025 2 August 2019 Unquoted 
275,000,000 $0.002 31 October 2020 Unquoted 

 
Indemnification of Officers and Auditors 
 
During or since the financial year the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant 
agreement to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Group or of any related body corporate, 
except to the extent permitted by law, against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
In addition, the Group has not paid, or agreed to pay, a premium in respect of a contract 
insuring against a liability incurred by an officer or auditor. 
 
Director’s Meetings 
 
The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of 
Committees of Directors) held during the financial year and the number of meetings attended 
by each Director (while they were a Director or Committee member). During the financial 
year, 15 Board meetings meeting were held: 
 

 Directors’ Meetings 

 Eligible to 
attend 

Attend 

Mr N. Featherby 11 11 

Mr N. Halliday   3 3 

Mr S. Ball 7 7 

Mr D. Scoggin  3 3 

Mr T. Fontaine 5 5 

Mr T. Wheeler 4 4 

Mr R. Wheeler 4 4 

Mr B. Montgomery 0 0 
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Remuneration report 
 
This report, which forms part of the Directors’ report, outlines the remuneration arrangements 
in place for the Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the Group for the financial year ended 
30 June 2017.  The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as 
required by Section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The remuneration report, which has been audited, outlines key management personnel 
remuneration arrangements for the consolidated entity, in accordance with the requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and its regulations. 
 
The following persons were KMP of the Company during the financial year: 
 
Directors: 

 Mr N Featherby Executive Chairman (Appointed 29 September 2016) 

 Mr S Ball Non-executive Director (Appointed 3 November 2016) 

 Mr D Scoggin Non-executive Director (Appointed 19 December 2016) 

 Mr N Halliday Non-executive Director (Appointed 19 December 2016) 

 Mr T Fontaine Non-executive Chairman (Resigned 19 December 2016) 

 Mr T Wheeler Managing Director (Resigned 7 November 2016) 

 Mr B Montgomery Non-executive Director (Resigned 19 August 2016) 

 Mr R Wheeler Non-executive Director (Resigned 4 November 2016) 
 
Executives: 
 

 Mr M Pitts (Company Secretary) – resigned 1 August 2016 

 Ms B Nichols (Company Secretary) – appointed 1 August 2016 and resigned 9 
November 2016 

 Ms E O’Neil (Company Secretary) – appointed 3 November 2016 and resigned 22 
May 2017  

 Mr K Chua (Company Secretary) – appointed 22 May 2017 
 
Other than the Company Secretary, there were no senior executives of the Company or the 
Group during or since the end of the financial year that did not hold a position as a Director 
of the Group. 
 
The Company’s policy for determining the remuneration of KMP is based on a number of 
factors including length of service, the particular experience of the individual concerned and 
the overall performance of the Group. 
 
The remuneration policy has been framed with particular regard to the early stage of the 
Group’s operations. At this stage it is not considered appropriate for base remuneration to be 
dependent upon an individual’s performance rated against key performance indicators or the 
Group’s performance as measured by earnings or the Company’s share price.  
 
Hedging positions over shares and options over shares or the loaning of shares and options 
over shares held by KMP in the Group are not permitted. 
 
As at the date of this report the Company had a number of service agreements in place for 
the Directors of the Group:   
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
Mr N. Featherby Upon his initial appointment as a Non-Executive Director, the Company 

entered into a Non-Executive Director Agreement with Mr Featherby on 
the basis of $2,500 per month in directors’ fees, and reimbursement of 
expenses (travel, communication and legal) up to $20,000 per month. 
Upon his appointment as Executive Chairman in December 2016, Mr 
Featherby entered a new agreement with the Company on the basis of 
$5,000 per month. Termination is a notice period of 90 days.  

 
 
Mr N. Halliday The Company entered into a Non-Executive Director Agreement with Mr 

Halliday who is paid $3,000 per month. Mr Halliday may terminate the 
agreement by giving 30 days’ notice in writing.  

 
Mr D. Scoggin The Company entered into a Non-Executive Director Agreement with Mr 

Scoggin who is paid $3,000 per month. Mr Scoggin may terminate the 
agreement by giving 30 days’ notice in writing. 

 
Mr S. Ball The Company entered into a Non-Executive Director Agreement with Mr 

Ball who is paid $3,000 per month. Mr Ball may terminate the agreement 
by giving 30 days’ notice in writing. 

 
Mr T. Wheeler  On 1 July 2016 Mr T. Wheeler was appointed as an Executive Director 

with the title Managing Director. The Company entered into a 
Consultancy Agreement with Mr Wheeler on the basis of $5,000.00 per 
month (inclusive of director’s fees).  This agreement was terminated 
upon Mr Wheeler’s resignation from the position of Managing Director on 
7 November 2016. 

 
Mr T. Fontaine The Company remunerated Mr Fontaine $5,000 per month for his 

services as Chairman and $2,500 per month for services as a Non-
Executive Director. Mr T Fontaine resigned from his position as Non-
Executive Chairman on 19 December 2016.   

 
Mr R. Wheeler The Company remunerated Mr R Wheeler $2,500 per month as a Non-

Executive Director. Mr R. Wheeler resigned as a Non-Executive Director 
on 4 November 2016.   

 
Mr B. Montgomery The Company remunerated Mr Montgomery $2,500 per month as a 

Non-Executive Director. Mr Montgomery resigned as a Non-Executive 
Director on 19 August 2016. 

 
The Company Secretary receives remuneration as set out below: 
 
Mr M. Pitts The Company remunerated Mr Pitts $4,000 per month as Company 

Secretary plus other consulting fees as required for services rendered. 
Mr Pitts resigned as Company Secretary on 1 August 2016.  
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
Ms B. Nichols The Company remunerated Ms Nichols $6,000 per month as Company 

Secretary plus other consulting fees as required for services rendered. 
Ms Nichols resigned as Company Secretary on 9 November 2016. 

 
Ms E. O’Neil Ms O’Neil acted as company secretary to the Company on behalf of 

Enrizen Accounting Pty Ltd (Enrizen Accounting). This engagement 
also included accounting services provided by Enrizen Accounting.  
Enrizen Accounting was paid fees of $5,000 per month for its services. 
Ms O’Neil resigned as Company Secretary on 22 May 2017. 

 
Mr K. Chua Mr Chua provides company secretarial and accounting services to the 

Company on behalf of Enrizen Accounting. This engagement also 
includes accounting services provided by Enrizen.  Enrizen Accounting 
is paid fees of $5,000 per month for its services. 

 
 
Details of remuneration 
 
Details of the remuneration of each KMP of the Company including their personally related 
entities are set out in the following table. 
 

2017 
Short-term 

employee benefits 
Post-employment 

Share- 

Based  
payment 

Name 

Cash 
salary 

Bonus 

Super- 
Other 
Retire- 

Options 

% of 
Remun- 

Total 

and fees annuation 
ment 

benefits 
eration 

  $ $ $ $ $ % $ 

Directors               
Mr N. Featherby 45,000 - - - - - 45,000 
Mr N. Halliday 21,000 - - - - - 21,000 
Mr D. Scoggin 21,000 - - - - - 21,000 
Mr S. Ball 24,000 - - - - - 24,000 
Mr T. Fontaine 10,000 - - - - - 10,000 
Mr T. Wheeler 118,767 - - - - - 118,767 
Mr R. Wheeler 22,500 - - - - - 22,500 
Mr B. Montgomery - - - - - - - 
             
Secretary            
Mr M. Pitts 25,035 - - - - - 25,035 
Ms B. Nichols 18,000 - - - - - 18,000 
Ms E. O’Neil 60,000* - - - - - 60,000 
Mr K. Chua 5,000* - - - - - 5,000 
TOTAL 370,302 - - - - - 370,302 

* Fees payable to Ms E. O’Neil and Mr. K Chua were paid to Enrizen Accounting Pty Ltd in 
consideration of company secretarial and accounting services provided to the Group.  
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 

2016 
Short-term 

employee benefits 
Post-employment 

Share- 

Based 
 

payment 

Name 

Cash 
salary 

Bonus 

Super- 
Other 
Retire- 

Options 

% of 
Remun- 

Total 

and fees annuation 
ment 

benefits 
eration 

  $ $ $ $ $ % $ 

Directors              

               

Mr T. Fontaine 60,000 - - - - - 60,000 

Mr T. Wheeler 261,468 - 24,839 - - - 286,307 

Mr R. Wheeler 30,000 - - - - - 30,000 

Mr B. Montgomery 30,000 - - - - - 30,000 

               

Secretary              

Mr M. Pitts 48,000 - - - - - 48,000 

TOTAL 429,468 - 24,839 - - - 454,307 

 
The table below sets out summary information about the Group’s earnings and movements 
in shareholder wealth for the five years to 30 June 2017: 
 

 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 30-Jun-13 
 $ $ $ $ $ 

Revenue 29,763 356 254,183 17,768 58,635 
Loss attributable to 
equity holders 

(2,370,837) (6,734,407) (473,506) (7,659,146) (1,316,637) 

Share price at start of 
year 

0.003 0.005 0.010 0.020 0.020 

Share price at end of 
year 

0.001 0.003 0.004 0.010 0.020 

Loss per share 
(cents) 

(0.001) (0.770) (0.060) (0.960) (0.200) 
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
There have been no dividends paid during the period of analysis above. 
 
Loans to Key Management Personnel  
 
No loans have been made to KMP in their individual capacities. 
 
Loans and accruals payable to Mr N. Featherby is $4,000, Mr S. Ball is $6,000 and Mr N. 
Halliday is $21,000. 
 
 
Options Issued 
 
No options have been issued to any KMP of the Group during the current financial year (2016: 
Nil).   
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by 
each key management personnel of the company, including their related entities, are set out 
below. 
 
Option holdings 
 

30 June 2017 

Name Balance at 
the start of 
the year 
or when 
appointed 

Granted 
during 
the year 
as 
remuner-
ation 

Exercis
ed 
during 
the year 

Expired 
during 
the year 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Vested 
and 
exercisabl
e at the 
end of the 
year 

Mr N. Featherby - - - - - - 

Mr N. Halliday - - - - - - 

Mr D. Scoggin 52,500,000 - - - 52,500,000  

Mr S. Ball - - - - - - 

Mr T. Fontaine - - - - - - 

Mr T. Wheeler - - - - - - 

Mr R. Wheeler - - - - - - 

Mr B. 
Montgomery - - - - - - 

Mr M. Pitts - - - - - - 

Ms B. Nichols - - - - - - 

Ms E. O’Neil - - - - - - 

Mr k. Chua - - - - - - 

 
 

30 June 2016 

Name Balance 
at the 
start of 
the year 
or when 
appointe
d 

Granted 
during the 
year as 
remuner- 
ation 

Exercis
ed 
during 
the 
year 

Expired 
during the 
year 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Vested 
and 
exercisabl
e at the 
end of the 
year 

Mr T. Fontaine - - - - - - 

Mr T. Wheeler - - - - - - 

Mr R. Wheeler - - - - - - 

Mr B. Montgomery - - - - - - 

Mr M. Pitts - - - - - - 
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
Shareholdings 
 
The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each KMP of the 
Company, including their related entities, are set out below: 
 

30-Jun-17             

Name 
Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Balance 
when 

commenced 

Received 
during 

the year 
on the 

exercise 
of options 

Other 
changes 

during the 
year 

Balance at 
end of 

employment 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Mr N. Featherby - - - - - - 

Mr N. Halliday - - - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 

Mr D. Scoggin - 104,574,889 - 10,000,000 - 114,574,889 

Mr S. Ball - - - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 

Mr T. Fontaine 113,425,190 - - 372,190,540 (485,615,730) - 

Mr R. Wheeler 84,960,933 - - - (84,960,933) - 

Mr T. Wheeler 69,051,842 - - - (69,051,842) - 

Mr M. Pitts - - - - - - 

Ms B. Nichols - - - - - - 

Ms E. O’Neil - - - - - - 

Mr K. Chua - - - - - - 

 
      

30-Jun-16             

Name 
Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Balance 
when 

commenced 

Received 
during 

the year 
on the 

exercise 
of options 

Other 
changes 

during the 
year 

Balance at 
end of 

employment 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Mr T. Fontaine 101,425,190   - 12,000,000 - 113,425,190 

Mr B. 
Montgomery 

-   - - - - 

Mr R. Wheeler 84,960,933   - - - 84,960,933 

Mr T. Wheeler 69,051,842   - - - 69,051,842 

Mr M. Pitts 900,000   - 900,000 - - 
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
Other transactions with Directors 
 
A number of Directors, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in 
them having control or joint control over the financial or operating policies of those entities. 
 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no 
more favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 
 
The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management 
personnel and entities over which they have control or joint control, for transactions other than 
services as director, were as follows: 
 

a) Rhino Energy Pty Ltd, an entity associated with T. Fontaine, received $46,231 in 
relation to consultancy fees services provided to the Group. As at balance date the 
Group owed $46,231. (2016: $Nil) 
 

b) Mancora Capital Pty Ltd, an entity associated with N. Featherby, was paid $153,500 
in relation to consultancy fees services provided to the Group. As at balance date the 
Group owed $Nil. (2016: $Nil) 
 

c) Ochre Group Holdings Limited (OGH) has common directors with the Group, being 
Nathan Featherby and Saxon Ball. OGH has shares in the Group with a value of 
$100,000 at cost and loan receivable of $99,917 (2016: $Nil). Prepayments of 
$690,000 related to OGH. The Group also paid advisory and rental fees to OGH to 
OGH of $644,986 for the period. The loan is secured, and attracts interest of 10% p.a. 
and repayable on demand.  
 

d) Avatar Energy Pty Ltd ATF the Fontaine Investment Trust (“Avatar”) and Mary 
Fontaine is a Company and nominee associated with Mr Tom Fontaine, was paid 
$32,321 in relation consultancy fees services provided to the Group. The Group 
entered a short-term loan agreement with Avatar. The loan is subject to normal 
commercial terms and is unsecured. As at balance date the Group owed $Nil. (2016: 
$490,006) 
 

e) Enrizen Lawyers Pty Ltd, an entity associated with E. O’Neil, was paid $37,175 in 
relation to legal services provided to the Group. As at balance date the Group owed 
$27,320. (2016: $Nil) 
 
 
 

 
- End of Remuneration Report - 
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Shares Issued on the Exercise of Options 

No ordinary shares of the Company were issued during the year ended 30 June 2017 on the 
exercise of options. 

Non-Audit Services 

No non-audit services were provided during the year by the auditor. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 22 of the financial report. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.298 
(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors 

Mr Nathan Featherby 
Executive Chairman 



 

 

Crowe Horwath Sydney is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and 
independent legal entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of 
financial services licensees.  

Crowe Horwath Sydney 

ABN 97 895 683 573 
Member Crowe Horwath International 

Audit and Assurance Services 

Level 15 1 O'Connell Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Australia 

Tel +61 2 9262 2155  
Fax +61 2 9262 2190 

www.crowehorwath.com.au 

29 September 2017 

 

The Board of Directors 

Magnum Gas & Power Limited 

Level 11, 52 Phillip Street 

Sydney NSW 2000 

 

 

Dear Board Members 

Magnum Gas & Power Limited 
 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 

declaration of independence to the directors of Magnum Gas & Power Limited. 

 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Magnum Gas & Power Limited for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2017, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, that there 

have been no contraventions of: 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

 

CROWE HORWATH SYDNEY 

 

 

 

 

 

LEAH RUSSELL 
Senior Partner 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

  Consolidated 

 Note 

Year ended Year ended 

30-Jun-17 30-Jun-16 

$ $ 
    

Interest revenue  29,763  356  

Accounting fees  (108,035) (17,819) 

Administration expenses  (515,414) (465,275) 

Audit fees  (70,790) (26,687) 

Consulting fees  (1,076,670) (5,402) 

Directors fees  (304,267) (120,000) 

Insurances  (19,511) (13,458) 

Travel expenses  (254,299) (54,221) 

Interest expense  (3,082) (1,273) 

Loss on Sales of Assets  (12,169) - 

Impairment of security deposit  - (50,000) 

Impairment of financial assets  (36,364) - 

Impairment of exploration assets 11 - (7,943,357) 

Loss before income tax expense   (2,370,837) (8,697,136) 

Income tax expense 6 - 1,962,729  

Net loss for the period  (2,370,837) (6,734,407) 
    

Other comprehensive income     

Item that may be subsequently classified to 
profit and loss: 

 

  

Exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations 

 388,763 (181,557) 

Total other comprehensive (loss) / income 
for the period 

 388,763 (181,557) 

    

Total comprehensive loss for the period  (1,982,074) (6,915,964) 

    

    

  Cents  per 
share 

Cents per share 

Loss per share    

    

Basic loss per share 16 (0.001) (0.77) 

Diluted loss per share 16 (0.001) (0.77) 

 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2017 
 

 Consolidated 

 Note 
30-Jun-17 30-Jun-16 

$ $ 

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 25 60,814 4,216 

Receivables 7 789,140 21,686 

Financial assets - held for sales 8 313,636 - 

Prepayments 9 732,501 19,279 

Total current assets  1,896,092 45,181 
    

Non-current assets    

Exploration and evaluation assets 11 4,298,662 4,085,715 

Total non-current assets  4,298,662 4,085,715 
    

Total assets  6,194,754 4,130,896 

    

Current liabilities    

Payables 12 655,383 731,024 

Borrowings 13 41,173 490,006 

Total current liabilities  696,556 1,221,030 
    

Total liabilities  696,556 1,221,030 
    

Net assets  5,498,198 2,909,866 

    

Equity    

Issued capital 14 35,571,405 31,000,999 

Reserves 15 256,654 (132,109) 

Accumulated losses  (30,329,861) (27,959,024) 

Total equity  5,498,198 2,909,866 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 Consolidated 

 Share 
capital 

Accumulated 
 losses 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2015 30,845,795 (21,224,617) 49,448 9,670,626 
     

Comprehensive income for 
period 

    

Loss for the period - (6,734,407) - (6,734,407) 

Translation of foreign 
subsidiaries 

- - (181,557) (181,557) 

Total comprehensive loss for 
the period 

- (6,734,407) (181,557) (6,915,964) 

     

Transactions with owners, 
in their capacity as owners 

    

Share issue (net of costs) 155,204 - - 155,204 

Total transactions with 
owners, in their capacity as 
owners 

155,204 - - 155,204 

Balance at 30 June 2016 31,000,999 (27,959,024) (132,109) 2,909,866 

     

Balance at 1 July 2016 31,000,999 (27,959,024) (132,109) 2,909,866 
     

Comprehensive income for 
period 

    

Loss for the period - (2,370,837) - (2,370,837) 

Translation of foreign 
subsidiaries 

- - 388,763 388,763 

Total comprehensive loss for 
the period 

- (2,370,837) 388,763 (1,982,074) 

     

Transactions with owners, 
in their capacity as owners 

    

Share issue (net of costs) 4,570,406 - - 4,570,406 

Total transactions with 
owners, in their capacity as 
owners 

4,570,406 - - 4,570,406 

Balance at 30 June 2017 35,571,405 (30,329,861) 256,654 5,498,198 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017  
 

 Consolidated 

 Note 

Year ended Year ended 

30-Jun-17 30-Jun-16 

$ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Payments to suppliers and employees  (2,833,911) (302,157) 

Interest received  29,763 356 
Interest expenses  (15,250) - 

Net cash used in operating activities 25 (2,819,398) (301,801) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment 

 - - 

Purchase of equity instruments  (931,842) - 
Exploration expenditure  (212,946) (133,679) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,144,788) (133,679) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from share issue  5,188,802 100,000 
Payments for share issue costs  (618,395) (4,796) 
Loans to related parties  (89,594) - 
Loans to non-related parties  (460,026) - 

Proceeds from loans  - 210,000 

Net cash provided by financing activities  4,020,786 305,204 

    

(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 56,600 (130,276) 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the period 

 4,216 134,492 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the period 

25 60,816 4,216 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 



 
 

 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

Magnum Gas & Power Limited (the “Company”) is a public company incorporated in Australia 

and operating in Australia and Botswana. The Company listed on the Australian Securities 

Exchange trading under the symbol ‘MPE’ and listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange trading 

under the symbol ‘MAGNUM’.  

 

The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements for the Group, 

consisting of Magnum Gas & Power Limited and its subsidiaries. For the purposes of preparing 

the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity. 

 

NOTE 2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

 

The Directors have reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued 

by the AASB that are relevant to the Company and effective for the current annual reporting 

period.   

 

It has been determined by the Directors that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the 

new and revised Standards and Interpretations on the Group’s business and, therefore, no 

change is necessary to Group accounting policies. 

 

The Directors have commenced a review of all new Standards and Interpretations that have 

been issued but are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2017.  As a result of this 

review the Directors expect that there is no material impact, of the new and revised Standards 

and Interpretations on the Group but this will be confirmed in future reporting periods. 

 

NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Statement of compliance 

 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 29 September 2017.  

 

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian 

equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) and the Corporations Act 

2001.  Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial 

statements and notes thereto, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Basis of preparation 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and based on historic 

costs modified by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial 

liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.  Historical costs is 

based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. The 

Company is domiciled in Australia and all amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless 

otherwise noted. 

 

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and 

presentation of the financial report and have been consistently applied to all of the years 

presented, unless otherwise stated: 

 

a.  Going concern 

 

The Directors have prepared the financial report on a going concern basis, which contemplates 

the continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of 

liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 

 

As at 30 June 2017 the Group has $60,814 in cash and net current assets of $1,199,536.  For 

the year then ended, the Group expended net cash from operations of $2,819,398 and net 

cash from investing activities of $1,144,788.  

 

In July 2017, the Company announced that it has raised A$4.0 million under a placement to 

sophisticated investors. The fund were used for the purposes of meeting the Company’s 

initial commitments for its investment in the Tulainyo Project.  

 

The Group will need to continue to raise additional funds to meet its ongoing obligations and 

subject to the results of its ongoing exploration activities, expand or accelerate its work 

programs. The Group’s capacity to raise additional funds via equity issues will be impacted by 

the success of ongoing exploration activities.  The Group may consider securing additional 

funds through a capital raising via preferential issues to existing shareholders (pro rata offers 

and/or share purchase plans), placements to new and existing investors or through the 

realisation of assets. The Directors have instituted cost saving measures to further reduce 

corporate and administrative costs.   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

  

a.  Going concern (continued) 

 

The Directors will continue to closely monitor operations to ensure the momentum of 

transformation and growth can be maintained but within available resources. The Group enjoys 

the support of its Directors and major shareholders and Chairman. The Directors believe that 

the Group will be able to raise sufficient equity funds to enable operations to continue.  

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s overall position and, in light of those matters 

mentioned above, are confident of securing funds if and when necessary to meet the Group’s 

exploration and development plans and obligations as and when they fall due, and consider 

the adoption of the going concern basis to be appropriate in the preparation of this financial 

report. However, in the event that the Group is unsuccessful in raising sufficient funding, there 

exists a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern and, therefore, it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its 

liabilities in the normal course of business. 

 

b. Basis of consolidation 

 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company 

and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries 

(referred to as ‘the Group’ in these financial statements). 

 

Control is achieved when the Company: 

 has power over the investee; 

 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 has the ability in its power to affect its returns 

 

The Company reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 

indicate that there are changes do one or more of the three elements listed above. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up 

to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 

their accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group. All intra-

group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

b. Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are 

accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the 

non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 

subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are 

adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity 

and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the 

difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair 

value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including 

goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously 

recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. 

reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as 

would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any 

investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the 

fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition 

of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity. 

 

c. Business combinations 

 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. 

The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the 

date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 

issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting 

from a contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. 

Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where 

they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). All other subsequent changes 

in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are accounted for 

in accordance with relevant Standards. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration 

classified as equity are not recognised. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

c. Business combinations (continued) 

 

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in 

the acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group 

attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts 

arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been 

recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such 

treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of. 

 

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions 

for recognition under AASB 3 are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except 

that:  

 

 Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit 

arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 112 Income Taxes 

and AASB 119 Employee Benefits respectively; 

 Liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s 

share-based payment awards are measured in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based 

Payment; and 

 Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 

Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in 

accordance with that Standard. 

 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting 

period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items 

for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the 

measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect 

new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date 

that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. 

 

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group 

obtains complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 

date – and is subject to a maximum of one year.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

 

d. Revenue 

 

Interest revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 

Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued on a 

time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, 

which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected 

life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

 

e. Employee benefits 

 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 

annual leave, long service leave, and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be 

required and they are capable of being measured reliably. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits, are measured at their 

nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

 

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled 

within 12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to 

be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date. 

 

Contributions to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense 

when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 

 

f. Share-based payments 

 

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are 

measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. 

 

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 

expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of 

equity instruments that will eventually vest. At the end of each reporting period, the Group 

revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the 

revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative 

expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled 

employee benefits reserve. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

f. Share-based payments 

 

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are 

measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value 

cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity 

instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty 

renders the service. 

 

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services 

acquired, measured initially at the fair value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period 

until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is 

remeasured, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the year. 

g. Taxation 

 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

Current tax 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from 

profit as reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because of items of 

income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 

taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 

computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 

temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the 

initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 

transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

g. Taxation (continued) 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with 

investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the 

Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from 

deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only 

recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 

which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in 

the foreseeable future. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 

to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 

the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The 

measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 

follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by 

the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities 

on a net basis. 

 

Current and deferred tax for the period 

 

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except 

when they relate to items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised outside 

profit or loss, or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the 

case of a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 

combination. 
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

h. Property, plant and equipment 

 

Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. 

 

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold 

land and properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using 

the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method 

are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 

prospective basis. 

 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and 

equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

i. Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 

a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 

settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 

estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 

cash flows. 

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 

recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

j. Financial assets 

 

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale 

of a financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within 

the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, 

plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit 

or loss, which are initially measured at fair value. 

 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair 

value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) 

financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and 

purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

 

After initial recognition the Group measures financial assets, including derivatives that are 

assets, at their fair values, without any deduction for transaction costs it may incur on sale or 

other disposal, except investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market 

price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives 

that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, which 

is measured at cost. 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL 

 

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading 

or it is designated as at FVTPL. 

 

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: 

 It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or 

 On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 

manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

 It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.  
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

j. Financial assets (continued) 

 

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL 

upon initial recognition if: 

 Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 

inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or 

 The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, 

which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance 

with the Group's documented risk management or investment strategy, and information 

about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or 

 It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and AASB 139 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract 

(asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL. 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-

measurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 

incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘other 

gains and losses’ line item in the statement of comprehensive income.  

 

AFS financial assets 

Listed shares and listed redeemable notes held by the Group that are traded in an active 

market are classified as AFS and are stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising from 

changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

investments revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated 

using the effective interest method, and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets, 

which are recognised in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to 

be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation 

reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 

 

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to 

receive the dividends is established. 

 

The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 

foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. The foreign 

exchange gains and losses that are recognised in profit or loss are determined based on the  
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

j. Financial assets (continued) 

 

amortised cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised 

in other comprehensive income. 

 

Loans and receivables 

 

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and 

receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 

impairment. 

 

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term 

receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

 

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the 

end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is 

objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 

recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 

affected. 

 

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed 

not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. 

 

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past 

experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the 

portfolio past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable changes in national 

or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables. 

 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised 

is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

j. Financial assets (continued) 

 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 

financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced 

through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, 

it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 

allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the 

period.  

 

With the exception of AFS equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 

impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 

through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 

impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 

impairment not been recognised. 

 

 

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss 

are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment 

loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

Derecognition of financial assets 

 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred 

asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 

amounts it may have to pay.  
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If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 

financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 

in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 

k. Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 

entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are 

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

l. Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services 

tax (GST), except: 

 Where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is

recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense;

or

 For receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 

part of receivables or payables. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of 

cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable 

to, the taxation authority is classified within operating cash flows. 
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

m. Exploration and evaluation 

 

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of 

each identifiable “area of interest”. An area of interest may be determined by reference to one 

or more interest, lease or licence holdings, by geological association or by economic 

association or dependency. 

 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred 

asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 

association or dependency. 

 

Exploration and evaluation costs are fully capitalised as incurred so long as the rights to tenure 

of the area of interest are current and the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected 

to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or 

alternatively, by its sale; or exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not 

at the reporting date reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence 

or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operation in, or 

in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 

 

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights 

to explore, studies, exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling and associated activities and 

an allocation of depreciation and amortisation of assets used in exploration and evaluation 

activities. General and administrative costs are only included in the measurement of 

exploration and evaluation costs where they are related directly to operational activities in a 

particular area of interest. 

 

Capitalised exploration costs are reviewed each reporting date to determine whether an 

indication of impairment exists. For each exploration licence, this would involve consideration 

of an extensive field evaluation that has yielded no expected results. If any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the capitalised exploration costs is estimated to determine 

the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

m. Exploration and evaluation (continued) 

 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the 

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years. 

 

Accumulated costs (net of any impairment losses) in relation to an abandoned exploration area 

are written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made. 

 

Where a decision is made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of 

interest, the relevant exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance 

will be classified to development. At this point in time the Group does not have any assets in 

the development stage. 

 

n.  Foreign currency translation 

 

Both the functional and presentation currency of the Company is Australian dollars. Each entity 

in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 

statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying 

the exchange rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance 

date. 

All exchange differences in the consolidated financial report are taken to profit or loss with the 

exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net 

investment in a foreign entity. These are taken directly to equity until the disposal of the net 

investment, at which time they are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are also 

recognised in equity. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.   
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

n.  Foreign currency translation (continued) 

 

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.  Translation differences on 

assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

 

The functional currency of the foreign operations, Nata Energy (Pty) Ltd and Baobab 

Resources (Pty) Ltd, is Pula (BWP) and for Nata Energy (Mauritius) Inc and GasCo 

International Ltd is US Dollars (US$). 

 

As at the balance date the assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into the 

presentation currency of the Company at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance date and 

their statements of comprehensive income are translated at the weighted average exchange 

rate for the year. 

 

The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component 

of equity, being recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign 

entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign 

operation is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

o.  Investment in associates and joint ventures 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence 

is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is 

not control or joint control over those policies. 

 

A joint venture is an arrangement where the parties have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing 

of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities 

require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures are incorporated in these 

consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the 

investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 

in accordance with AASB 5. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint 

venture is initially recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position and adjusted 

thereafter to recognised the Groups’ share of the profit or loss in other comprehensive income  
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

o.  Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued) 

 

of the associate if joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint 

venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-

term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in associate or joint 

venture, the Group discontinues to recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are 

recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 

made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.  

 

An investment in associate or joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the 

date on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the 

investment in an associate or joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the 

Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities is recognised as 

goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 

Group’s share of net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the 

investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which 

the investment is acquired. 

 

The requirements of AASB 139 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise 

any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in associate or joint venture. When 

necessary, the entire carrying amount if the investment (including goodwill) is tested for 

impairment in accordance with AASB 136 ‘Impairment of Assets’ as a single asset by 

comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use less costs to sell) with its carrying 

amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. 

Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with AASB 136 to the extent 

that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 

 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment 

ceased to be an associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for 

sale. When the group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained 

interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date 

and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with AASB 

139. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date 

the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any 

proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the  
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

o.  Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued) 

 

determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the 

Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 

relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that 

associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if 

a gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture 

would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities., the 

Group reclassified the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) 

when the equity method is discontinued. 

 

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes 

an investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in 

an associate. There is no re-measurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership 

interests.  

 

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group 

continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassified to profit and loss the proportion of 

the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating 

to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss 

on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 

 

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and 

loss resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or 

joint venture that are not related to the Group. 

 

p.  Interests in joint operations 

 

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 

arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the 

arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 

which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of 

the parties sharing control. 
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

p.  Interests in joint operations (continued) 

 

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint 

operator recognises in relation to its interests a joint operation: 

 

 Its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 

 Its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

 Its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; 

 Its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and  

 Its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 

 

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in 

a joint operation in accordance with AASBs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, 

revenues and expenses. 

 

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator 

(such as a sale or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the 

transaction with the other parties to the joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the 

transactions are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent 

of other parties’ interests in the joint operation. 

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator 

(such as a purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses 

until it resells those assets to a third party. 
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NOTE 4: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY  

 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, 

management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values 

of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of 

making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 

affects both current and future periods. 

 

(a) Impairment of exploration assets 

Determining the recoverability of exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised in 

accordance with the Group’s accounting policy (refer note 3(m)), requires estimates and 

assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular, whether successful 

development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale, of the respective areas of 

interest will be achieved.  Critical to this assessment is estimates and assumptions as to 

reserves, the timing of expected cash flows, exchange rates, commodity prices and future 

capital requirements.  Changes in these estimates and assumptions as new information about 

the presence or recoverability of on ore reserve becomes available, may impact the 

assessment of the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation assets.  If, after having 

capitalised the expenditure under accounting policy 3(m), a judgement is made that recovery 

of the expenditure is unlikely, an impairment loss is recorded in the income statement in 

accordance with accounting policy 3(m).  The carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation 

assets are set out in note 10. 

 

(b) Deferred tax assets 

The application of accounting judgments is established in the Group’s approach to the 

recognition of deferred tax assets arising from operating losses. Deferred tax assets are only 

recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses if it is probable that 

future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
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NOTE 5: SEGMENT NOTE 

 

The Board has determined that the Group has two reportable segments, being mineral 

exploration and evaluation in Botswana and Tulainyo Project.  

 

As the Group is focused on mineral exploration and evaluation, the Board monitors the Group 

based on actual versus budgeted exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred.  

 

This internal reporting framework is the most relevant to assist the Board with making decisions 

regarding the Group and its ongoing exploration and evaluation activities, while also taking into 

consideration the results of exploration and development work that has been performed to 

date. 

 

30-Jun-17 
Exploration 

Botswana 

Tulainyo 

Project 

Total 

Segments 
Corporate Consolidated 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

Segment revenue - - - 29,763  29,763  

Segment result (34,909) (70,000) (104,909) (2,265,928) (2,370,837) 

            

Segment assets 4,298,662  581,842  4,880,504  1,314,249  6,194,754  

Capital expenditure 85,726  - 85,726 - 85,726 

            

Segment liabilities (130,921) - (130,921) (565,634) (696,556) 

      

30-Jun-16 
Exploration 

Botswana 

Exploration 

Australia 

Total 

Segments 
Corporate Consolidated 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

Segment revenue - - - 356  356  

Segment result (7,943,357) (50,000) (7,993,357) (703,779) (8,697,136) 

            

Segment assets 4,085,715  - 4,085,715  45,181  4,130,896  

Capital expenditure 218,175  - 218,175  - 218,175  

            

Segment liabilities (117,297) - (117,297) (1,103,733) (1,221,030) 
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NOTE 6: INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

 

The expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows: 

 

   
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Loss from continuing operations: (2,370,837) (8,697,136) 

        

Income tax benefit using the Company’s domestic tax rate of 

27.5% (2016: 30%) 
(651,980) (2,609,141) 

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 3,090 17,578 

Effect of impairment expense 10,000 2,383,007 

Movement of deferred tax assets (227,195) 1,962,729 

Effect of unused tax losses and temporary differences not 

recognised as deferred tax assets 
866,085 208,556 

Total tax benefit relating to continuing operations - 1,962,729 

 

The effective tax rate used for the reconciliations above is the corporate tax rate payable by 

on taxable profits under applicable tax law from each jurisdiction that the Group operates in.  

 

Due to the nature of operations there are no deferred tax balances recognised at the reporting 

date. 

 

This benefit for tax losses will only be recognised if: 

 

(a) It is probable that the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an 

amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions for the losses to be realised; 

(b) The Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax 

legislation; and 

(c) No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit from 

the deductions for the losses. 

 
At the current stage, the Group is unable to ascertain whether the condition as set in part (a) 

will eventuate and hence no deferred tax asset is recognised as a result.   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 7: RECEIVABLES 

   
2017 2016 

$ $ 

CURRENT       

Other receivables   1,523  1,525  

Input tax credits receivable   105,858  20,161  

Receivables - Ochre Group Holdings Limited   99,917  - 

Receivable - Tulainyo Project   581,842  - 

TOTAL    789,140  21,686  

 

Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services 

performed in the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 

months of the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables 

are classified as non-current assets. 

 

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured 

at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. 

 

The receivable of $99,917 from Ochre Group Holdings Limited has interest at 10%. It is 

secured over Ochre Group Holding Limited’s share portfolio in listed companies.  

 

The first $600,000 of the receivable - Tulainyo Project will be converted to shares in Gasfield 

LLC. 

 

NOTE 8: INVESTMENTS 

 

   
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Current       

Financial assets at fair value – held for sale       

Shares in quoted entities – at cost   350,000  - 

Less: Allowance for diminution in value   (36,364) - 

Shares in quoted entities at fair value   313,636  - 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 8: INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs 

are expensed in the profit and loss. They are subsequently measured at fair value as they have 

been classified as held for trade.  

 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 

assets have expired or have been transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either: i) held for trading, where they are 

acquired for the purpose of selling in the short-term with an intention of making a profit; or ii) 

designated as such upon initial recognition, where they are managed on a fair value basis or 

to eliminate or significantly reduce an accounting mismatch. Fair value movements are 

recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 

NOTE 9: PREPAYMENTS 

 

   
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Current       

Prepayments   732,501  19,279  

TOTAL   732,501  19,279  

 

The prepayment included $690,000 paid to Ochre Group Holdings Limited for monthly service 

fees, capital raising and acquisition fees. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 10: PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

 

   
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Cost   54,330  54,330  

Accumulated depreciation   (54,330) (54,330) 

TOTAL    - - 

    

   
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Balance at start of the year   - 5,594  

Additions   - - 

Disposals   - - 

Depreciation   - (5,594) 

TOTAL   - - 

 

 

NOTE 11: EXPLORATION & EVALUATION ASSETS  

 

   
2017 2016 

$ $ 

NON-CURRENT       

Balance at start of year   4,085,715 11,994,495  

Expenditure incurred during the year  85,726 34,577  

Foreign exchange adjustments   146,009 - 

Less: impairment of exploration and evaluation assets (18,878) (7,943,357) 

Balance at end of year   4,298,662 4,085,715  

 

Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent upon the successful 

exploration and/or sale of resources (refer to note 4(a)).   

The Directors’ assessment of the carrying amount for the Group’s exploration and evaluation 

expenditure was after consideration of prevailing market conditions and previous expenditure 

for exploration work carried out.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 12: PAYABLES 

 

   2017 2016 

    $ $ 

CURRENT       

Trade payables and other accruals   655,383 731,024 

TOTAL   655,383 731,024 

 

 

NOTE 13: BORROWINGS  

 

   
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Loans - unrelated party   37,173 - 

Loans – related party (Avatar Energy Pty Ltd)   - 490,006 

Loans – related party (N. Featherby)   4,000 - 

TOTAL   41,173 490,006 

Prior year loans were repaid though the issue of shares. Unrelated party loans includes a 

loan of $9,193 that has interest of 10.765% 

 

NOTE 14: ISSUED CAPITAL 

 

   2017 2016 

    $ $ 

5,544,080,114 (2016: 850,375,705) fully paid ordinary 

shares 
35,571,405 31,000,999 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 14: ISSUED CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 

 

a. ORDINARY SHARES 
2017 2017 2016 2016 

No. $ No. $ 

At the beginning of reporting period 882,375,705  31,000,999  850,375,705  30,845,795  

Private placement at 0.5 cent per 

share 
    20,000,000  100,000  

Private placement at 0.5 cent per 

share 
    12,000,000  60,000  

Rights Issue at 0.1 cent/share 1,738,751,410  1,738,751      

Placement at 0.1 cent/share 100,000,000  100,000      

Approved issue to creditors at 0.2 

cent/share 
303,812,115  607,624      

Placement at 0.1 cent / share 750,734,807  750,735      

Placement at 0.1 cent /share 960,265,193  960,265      

Approved issue to KMP at 0.15 

cent/share 
85,000,000  127,500      

Placement at 0.125 cent/share 723,140,884  903,926      

Less: Share issue cost - (618,395) - (4,796) 

As at 30 June 5,544,080,114  35,571,405  882,375,705  31,000,999  

 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity 

in proportion to the number of shares held. At the shareholders meetings each ordinary share 

is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a 

show of hands.  

 

b. SHARE OPTIONS - LISTED 
  

Number of Options 

  2017 2016 

At the beginning of reporting period   - - 

Share options issued    1,969,875,700  - 

Share options expired   - - 

Share options cancellation   - - 

As at 30 June   1,969,875,700  - 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 14: ISSUED CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 

 

c. SHARE OPTIONS - UNQUOTED 
  

Number of Options 

  2017 2016 

At the beginning of reporting period   - - 

Share options issued    300,000,000  - 

Share options expired   - - 

Share options cancellation   - - 

As at 30 June   300,000,000 - 

 

NOTE 15: RESERVES 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation 

of the financial statements of foreign operations. 

 

NOTE 16: LOSS PER SHARE 

 

   
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Basic loss per share     

From continuing operations (0.001) (0.77) 

Diluted loss per share     

From continuing operations (0.001) (0.77) 

  
    

Loss used to calculate earnings per share 

From continuing operations (2,370,837) (6,734,407) 

  
2017 2016 

No. No. 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the period used in calculating basic loss per share 
3,032,735,793 871,785,541 

 

The dilutive loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share as the Group is in a loss 

position.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 17: DIVIDENDS 

 

There have been no dividends paid or proposed during the current financial year. 

 

NOTE 18: COMMITMENTS 

 

Commitments 
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Gas properties 

Not longer than 1 year 1,335,878  3,588,980  

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 1,145,038  64,550  

Longer than 5 years - - 

Operating leases - - 

Not longer than 1 year - - 

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years - - 

TOTAL 2,480,916  3,653,530  

 

The Group has capital commitments to remit US$3 million to satisfy its funding obligations 

under the Tulainyo Farm-in Agreement, in return for a 60% shareholding in Gasfields LLC. 

This funding has been satisfied post 30 June 2017.  

 

At balance date there were no other commitments not otherwise disclosed in these accounts. 

 

 

NOTE 19: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 

The Directors do not believe there are any contingent liabilities in existence at balance date. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

  56 
 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 20: SUBSIDIARIES 

 

  Country of 

Incorporation 

Percentage Owned (%)* 

   

    2017 2016 

Controlled entities consolidated:       

Parent Entity:       

Magnum Gas & Power Limited Australia     

Subsidiaries of Magnum Gas & Power 

Limited: 
      

Ormil Operations Pty Limited Australia 100 100 

Sydney Basin CBM Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Ormil Developments Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100 

Energy Botswana Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Nata Energy (Mauritius) Inc  Mauritius 100 100 

Nata Energy (Pty) Ltd Botswana 100 100 

Baobab Resources (Pty) Ltd Botswana 100 100 

Gasco International Ltd Mauritius 100 100 

Rhino CBM (Pty) Ltd Botswana 25 0 

* Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership     

 

NOTE 21:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 

(a) Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as 

going concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through holding cash only to the 

extent necessary to meet Group commitments and its immediate exploration program. The 

Group’s overall capital strategy remains unchanged from 2016. 

 

  



  

  57 
 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 21:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 

(a) Capital risk management (CONTINUED) 

 

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, and equity 

attributable to equity holders of the parent comprising issued capital and accumulated 

respectively. The Group operates in Australia and Botswana and none of the Group’s entities 

are subject to externally imposed capital requirements going forward. 

 

(b) Categories of financial instruments 

 

  
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Financial assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 60,814  4,216  

Receivables  789,140  21,686  

Financial assets - held for sales 313,636  - 

Financial liabilities     

Payables (655,383) (731,024) 

Borrowings (41,173) (490,006) 

 

The carrying amount reflected above represents the Company’s and the Group’s maximum 

exposure to credit risk for other loans and receivables. 

 

(c) Financial risk management objectives 

The Board monitors and manages financial risks relating to the operations of the Group on an 

individual case basis. These risks include market risk (includes interest rate risk), credit risk, 

liquidity risk and currency risk. The Group does not use derivatives to manage its exposure 

nor trade instruments for speculative purposes.   

 

(d) Market risk 

The Group’s current activities do not expose it to significant market risk.   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 21:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

(e) Credit risk management  

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter-party will default on its contractual obligations 

resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group attempts to deal with only creditworthy 

counterparties and obtain sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the 

risk of financial loss from defaults.   

 

The Group has exposure to a significant credit risk with a loan receivable from Gasfields. The 

loan is required as Magnum is assisting Gasfields to satisfy its funding obligations under the 

Tulainyo Farm-in Agreement.  

 

(f) Liquidity risk management 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, who are 

informed of current cash burn and all liquidity issues at each board meeting. The Group 

manages liquidity by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows against cash held. 

Liquidity and interest risk tables 

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity profile for its non-

derivative financial assets and liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the 

undiscounted cash flows based on the earliest date on which the Group will receive/pay the 

funds. Note that the following tables exclude the commitments identified and disclosed in note 

19.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 21:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

30 June 2017 

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest 

rate 

Less 

than 1 

month 

1-3 

months 

3 

months 

to 1 

year 

Total 

% $ $ $ $ 

            

Cash - variable interest rate 0.01% 60,814 - - 60,814 

Receivable - interest bearing 10.00% 99,917 - - 99,917 

Receivable – not interest bearing - 689,223 - - 689,223 

    849,954 - - 849,954 

Payables – not interest bearing - 655,383 - - 655,383 

Borrowings – variable interest rate 10% 41,173 -   41,173 

    696,556 - - 696,556 

 

30 June 2016 

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest 

rate 

Less 

than 1 

month 

1-3 

months 

3 

months 

to 1 

year 

Total 

% $ $ $ $ 

            

Cash - variable interest rate 0.01% 4,216  - - 4,216  

Receivable – not interest bearing - 40,965  - - 40,965  

    45,181  - - 45,181  

Payables – not interest bearing - 731,024  - - 731,024  

Borrowings – variable interest rate 7.21% - - 490,006  490,006  

    731,024  - 490,006  1,221,030  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 21:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Sensitivity analysis 

An increase or decrease in the interest rates at 30 June would have affected the financial 

instruments in cash, receivables and payables and increased or decreased equity and profit 

and loss by the amounts shown below.  This analysis is based on interest rates movements 

that the Group considered to be reasonable at the end of the reporting period.  The analysis 

assumes all other variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant.  The 

analysis for 2017 is performed on the same basis. 

 

30-Jun-17 

Equity Profit or loss 

100 bp 

Increase 

100 bp 

Decreas

e  

100 bp  

Increase 

100 bp 

Decreas

e  

          

Variable rate instruments - - (4,858) 4,858  

     

30-Jun-16 

Equity Profit or loss 

100 bp 

Increase 

100 bp 

Decreas

e  

100 bp  

Increase 

100 bp 

Decreas

e  

          

Variable rate instruments - - (4,858) 4,858  

 

(g) Currency risk 

 

The Group is exposed to currency risk on purchases and cash balances that are denominated 

in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities; which are 

Australian Dollar (AUD), US Dollar (USD) or Botswana Pula (BWP).  The currencies which 

these transactions primarily are denominated are AUD and USD.   

 

The Group has not entered into any derivative financial instruments to hedge such transactions 

and anticipated future receipts or payments that are denominated in a foreign currency. 

 

The Group’s investments in subsidiaries are not hedged as those currency positions are 

considered to be long term in nature. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 21:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

(g) Currency risk (continued) 

 

Exposure to currency risk 

The summary of quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk at balance date 

was as follows: 

 

30 Jun 2017 PULA:AUD USD:AUD 

      

Cash and cash equivalent - 2,353  

Trade payables (69,308) (19,841) 

Net statement of financial position exposure (69,308) (17,488) 

   

30 Jun 2016 PULA:AUD USD:AUD 

      

Cash and cash equivalent - 2,505  

Trade payables (8,288) - 

Net statement of financial position exposure (8,288) 2,505  
   

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year: 

30 Jun 2017 
Average 

rate 

Reporting 

date spot 

rate 

      

PULA:AUD 7.84 7.86 

USD:AUD 0.75 0.77 

   

30 Jun 2016 
Average 

rate 

Reporting 

date spot 

rate 

      

PULA:AUD 8.27 8.24 

USD:AUD 0.74 0.74 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 21:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

(g) Currency risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity analysis 

A strengthening or weakening of the AUD at 30 June 2017 by 2% would have affected the 

measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and increased or 

decreased equity, profit and loss by less than $1,000.  This analysis is based on foreign 

currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonable at the end of 

the reporting period.  The analysis assumes all other variables, in particular interest rates, 

remain constant.  The analysis for 2016 is performed on the same basis. 

 

(h) Net Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities as disclosed in the statement of financial 

position equate to their estimated net fair value. 

 

NOTE 22: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

 

Options to purchase shares have been issued in prior years to Directors, and to KMP of the 

Group as approved by the Board of Directors and General Meetings of Shareholders. Each 

share option converts into one ordinary share of Magnum Gas & Power Limited on exercise. 

No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option. The options carry 

neither rights to dividends nor voting rights.  

 

None expired or lapsed during the financial year (2016: Nil) 

 

No options have been exercised during the financial year (2016: Nil). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

Key management personnel compensation 

The following were key management personnel of the Group at any time during the reporting 

period and unless otherwise indicated were key management personnel for the entire period: 

Key Management 

Person Position  
N. Featherby Executive Chairman (Appointed 29 September 2016) 

S. Ball 

Non-executive 

Director (Appointed 3 November 2016) 

D. Scoggin 

Non-executive 

Director (Appointed 19 December 2016) 

N. Halliday 

Non-executive 

Director (Appointed 19 December 2016) 

T. Fontaine 

Non-executive 

Chairman (Resigned 19 December 2016) 

T. Wheeler Managing Director (Resigned 7 November 2016) 

B. Montgomery 

Non-executive 

Director (Resigned 19 August 2016) 

R. Wheeler 

Non-executive 

Director (Resigned 7 November 2016) 

M. Pitts Company Secretary (Resigned 1 August 2016) 

B. Nichols Company Secretary 

(Appointed 1 August 2016 and resigned 9 

November 2016) 

E. O'Neil Company Secretary 

(Appointed 3 November 2016 and resigned 22 

May 2017) 

K. Chua Company Secretary (Appointed 22 May 2017) 

 

The aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of key management 

personnel of the company and Group is set out below: 

 

   2017 2016 

    $ $ 

        

Short-term employee benefits   370,302  429,468  

Post-employment benefits   - 24,839  

TOTAL   370,302  454,307  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 

Loans to Key Management Personnel 

No loans were made to Directors of Magnum Gas & Power Limited, including their personally-

related entities. 

 

Loans and accruals payable to Mr N. Featherby is $4,000, Mr S. Ball is $6,000 & Mr N. Halliday 

is $21,000. 

 

Other transactions with Key Management Personnel 

A number of Directors, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them 

having control or joint control over the financial or operating policies of those entities.   

 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more 

favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

 

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management 

personnel and entities over which they have control or joint control, for transactions other than 

services as director, were as follows: 

 

a) Rhino Energy Pty Ltd, an entity associated with T. Fontaine, received $46,231 in 

relation to consultancy fees services provided to the Group. As at balance date the 

Group owed $46,231. (2016: $Nil) 

 

b) Mancora Capital Pty Ltd, an entity controlled by N. Featherby, was paid $153,500 in 

relation to consultancy fees services provided to the Group. As at balance date the 

Group owed $Nil. (2016: $Nil) 

 

c) Ochre Group Holdings Limited (OGH) has common directors with the Group, being 

Nathan Featherby and Saxon Ball. OGH has shares in the Group with a value of 

$100,000 at cost and loan receivable of $99,917 (2016: $Nil). Prepayments of 

$690,000 related to OGH. The Group also paid advisory and rental fees to OGH to 

OGH of $644,986 for the period. The loan is secured, and attracts interest of 10% p.a. 

and repayable on demand. There are trade creditors owing of $142,000. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 

d) Avatar Energy Pty Ltd ATF the Fontaine Investment Trust (“Avatar”) is a Company 

associated with and Mary Fontaine is a nominee of Mr Tom Fontaine, was paid $32,321 

in relation consultancy fees services provided to the Group. The Group entered a short-

term loan agreement with Avatar. The loan is subject to normal commercial terms and 

is unsecured. As at balance date the Group owed $Nil. (2016: $490,006) 

 

e) Enrizen Lawyers Pty Ltd, an entity associated with E. O’Neil, was paid $37,175 in 

relation to legal services provided to the Group. As at balance date the Group owed 

$27,320. (2016: $Nil) 

 

NOTE 24: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 

 

  
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for: 

50,000 24,750 
Auditing or reviewing the financial reports for the 

current year 

 

NOTE 25: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

 
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Cash at bank and on hand 60,814 4,193 

Cash at call - 23 

TOTAL 60,814 4,216 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
 

NOTE 25: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

Reconciliation of loss for the period to net cash flows from operating activities 

 

  
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Loss for the year (2,370,837) (6,734,407) 

      

ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON CASH ITEMS     

-     Depreciation expense - 5,594  

-     Loss of security deposit - 50,000  

-     Impairment 36,364  5,980,628  

-     Unrealised foreign exchange differences - 2,039  

-     Gain on sale of assets - - 

CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL     

-     Proceeds from exploration activities - - 

-     (Increase)/Decrease in receivables and prepayments (798,047) (16,650) 

-     Increase in payables & borrowings 313,122  410,995  

Net cash from operating activities (2,819,398) (301,801) 

 

NOTE 26: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

 

Financial Position 
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Assets     

Current Assets 1,886,296  (522) 

Non-Current Assets 1,076,489  3,941,803  

Total Assets 2,962,786  3,941,281  

Liabilities     

Current Liabilities 607,406  541,409  

Non-Current Liabilities - 490,006  

Total Liabilities 607,406  1,031,415  

Net Assets 2,355,379  2,909,866  

Equity     

Issued Capital 35,571,405  31,000,999  

Retained Earnings (33,216,025) (28,091,133) 

Total Equity 2,355,379  2,909,866  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

NOTE 26: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

Financial Performance 
2017 2016 

$ $ 

Loss for the year (2,337,047) (6,739,186) 

Other Comprehensive Income - - 

Total Comprehensive Loss (2,337,047) (6,739,186) 

NOTE 27: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

In July 2017, the Company announced that it had signed an underwriting agreement with 

Perth-based broker, DJ Carmichael Pty Ltd, to underwrite a placement to sophisticated 

investors for A$2.75 million. The Company also announced it received commitments to place 

up to a further A$1.25 million. The shares, priced at $0.00125 and each with one attaching 

option, unquoted with an exercise price of $0.003 and expiry date of 2 August 2019, were 

issued following shareholder approval at an extraordinary general meeting on 31 July 2017. 

The A$4.0 million raised under this Placement were used for the purposes of meeting the 

Company’s initial commitments for its investment in the Tulainyo Gas Discovery in the 

Sacramento Basin in California. 

A cleansing prospectus was issued 2 August 2017 for 10,000 shares at $0.00125 raising 

$12.50. 

On 4 September 2017, the Company announced the exercise of 25,000,000 unquoted 

options (at $0.002 per option) for the issue of 25,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares.  The 

Company was paid $50,000 upon this exercise.   

On 28 September 2017, the Company announced that it has conducted a strategic 

placement to sophisticated and professional investors, raising approximately A$500,000 via 

the issue of approximately 333 million shares at $0.0015 per share, each with one attaching 

MPEO option, exercisable at $0.003 and expiring on 31 October 2020. 
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DIRECTOR’S DECLARATION 

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Magnum Gas & Power Limited (the ‘Company’):

a. the accompanying financial statements and notes are in accordance with the

Corporations Act 2001 including:

i. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and

of its performance for the year then ended;  and

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations

2001, professional reporting requirements and other mandatory requirements.

b. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts

as and when they become due and payable.

c. the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the

Directors in accordance with Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial

year ended 30 June 2017.

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

Mr Nathan Featherby 

Executive Chairman  

29 September 2017
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Magnum Gas & Power Limited 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Magnum Gas & Power 
Limited 
 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Magnum Gas & Power Limited (the Company and its 
subsidiary (the Group)), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 
June 2017, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and the directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:  

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended;  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  
 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 
time of this auditor’s report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 3(a) in the financial report, which indicates that the Group incurred a net 
loss during the year ended 30 June 2017 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded 
its total assets. As stated in Note 3(a), these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth 



 

 

 
 

in Note 3, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty 
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key 
audit matters to be communicated in our report. 
 

Key Audit Matter How we addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Recognition of Capitalised Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

Refer to Note 11 ‘Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure’ 

The capitalised exploration expenditure of the 
group represents the most significant item on the 
consolidated statement of financial position and 
involves judgement.  
 
We focused on this area as a key audit matter 
due to the judgements that are applied when 
considering costs to be capitalised. The 
consideration includes determining expenditures 
directly related to the exploration activities and 
allocating overheads between costs that are 
expensed and costs that are capitalised.  
 
 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 Reviewed management’s accounting policy 

and ensured that it is in line with AASB 6 
Exploration and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources. 

 Evaluated the directors’ process regarding 
the capitalisation and recognition of 
exploration and evaluation expenditure. 

 Selected a sample of exploration 
expenditure capitalised for the year. We 
assessed the existence, valuation and 
allocation of the expenditure by agreeing 
the original invoice to the general ledger, 
agreeing the project reference and 
ensuring capitalisation was in line with 
AASB 6 and the group’s accounting policy. 

Consideration of Impairment for Capitalised Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

Refer to Note 11 ‘Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure’ 

Exploration assets must also be assessed for 
impairment when facts and circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount of an 
exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its 
recoverable amount. The group shall then 
present and disclose any resulting impairment 
loss in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of 
Assets. 
 
The impairment consideration is highly dependent 
on the following key factors: 
 Detailed knowledge of the individual 

tenements held and status of operations and 

We challenged the directors’ assumptions that 
support its position on impairment for 
exploration and evaluation expenditure as 
follows:  
 Reviewed the provided budgets and drilling 

programs and assessed whether it covers 
the committed expenditure before the expiry 
date. 

 Assessed the group’s capacity to fund 
future committed exploration expenditure. 

 Obtained the Resource Authority Public 
Report to verify the group’s ownership 
interest of each of the tenements to which 



 

 

 
 

Key Audit Matter How we addressed the Key Audit Matter 

exploration activities in the specified area. 
 Viability of the tenements and how this is 

affected by any changes such as industry 
impacts, geography of project, committed 
expenditure and tenement expiry date. 

 
The directors perform regular (every six months) 
assessments of the outstanding balance of 
exploration cost capitalised.  This assessment is 
based on activities that had occurred between 
assessment dates.   
 
We focused on this area as a key audit matter 
due to the high degree of estimation and 
judgement required by the directors to assess 
whether impairment is required for the specified 
tenements held and the high value of the 
capitalised deferred exploration expenditure. 

the exploration expenditure relates and to 
ensure appropriate disclosures were made 
in the notes to the financial report. 

 

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not 
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made 
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 



 

 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar2.pdf. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.  
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report  

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 12 to 19 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2017.  
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Magnum Gas & Power Limited, for the year ended 30 June 
2017, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 

Responsibilities  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
 
 
 
 
CROWE HORWATH SYDNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
LEAH RUSSELL 
Senior Partner 
 
Dated at Sydney this 29th day of September 2017 
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Additional Securities Information  

 

Information regarding share holdings is current as at 28 September 2017. 

 

Ordinary Shareholders 

 

The total number of shares on issue is 8,940,339,230. 

The total number of shareholders is 1,256. 

Each fully paid ordinary share entitles the holder to one vote at general meetings of   

shareholders and is entitled to dividends when declared. 

As of 28 September 2017, 322 shareholders hold less than a marketable parcel. 

 

Twenty largest holders of ordinary shares 

 

Name Number of Shares % held 

AVATAR ENERGY PTY LTD 458,213,609 5.13% 

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 391,186,950 4.38% 

PERSHING AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD  340,366,027 3.81% 

DJ CARMICHAEL PTY LTD 318,918,630 3.57% 

JEMAYA PTY LTD  200,000,000 2.24% 

MR JOHNATHON RONALD BUSING 200,000,000 2.24% 

LTL CAPITAL PTY LTD 162,991,000 1.82% 

ZERO NOMINEES PTY LTD 160,000,000 1.79% 

MISS TIFFANY HILDA EVANS 160,000,000 1.79% 

LAGUNA BAY CAPITAL PTY LTD  150,000,000 1.68% 

TEXAS GOLD PTY LTD  138,500,000 1.55% 

DEL PAGGIO NOMINEES PTY LTD  134,838,970 1.51% 

MR CHRISTOPHER JAMES WHITEHEAD  125,000,000 1.40% 

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 114,574,889 1.28% 

PERSHING AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD 100,000,000 1.12% 

OCHRE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 100,000,000 1.12% 

GREENBUCK GLOBAL PTY LTD 100,000,000 1.12% 

MOUTIER PTY LTD 100,000,000 1.12% 

TWO TOPS PTY LTD 100,000,000 1.12% 

MR LEO FONTAINE & MRS MARY-ANN 

FONTAINE 82,882,686 0.93% 

 3,637,472,761 40.71% 
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Substantial Shareholders 

Name No. of ordinary shares held 

AVATAR ENERGY PTY LTD 458,213,609 

  

 

Distribution of ordinary shareholders 

Category of shareholding Number of Shareholders 

1-1,000 26 

1,001-5,000 23 

5,001-10,000 61 

10,001-100,000 144 

100,001-99,999,999,999 1,002 

Total 1,256 
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Corporate Governance Statement  

 

Approved by the Board and dated 30 June 2017 

The Company has adopted the 3nd Edition of the Recommendations and guidelines as 

promulgated by the ASX Corporate Governance Council. This statement outlines the 

main Corporate Governance practices that were in place throughout the financial year, 

unless otherwise stated. 

 

Role of the Board of Directors (The “Board”) 

The Directors’ are responsible for the direction and supervision of the Company’s 

business and for its overall corporate governance. This includes ensuring that internal 

controls and reporting procedures are adequate and effective. The Directors’ recognise 

the need to maintain the highest standards of behaviour, ethics and accountability. 

During the year responsibility for the management of the day-to-day operations and 

administration is delegated to the Managing Director and responsibility for corporate 

actions is delegated to the Managing Director and Company Secretary.  

 

The primary functions of the Board include: 

 

 Formulating and approving objectives, strategies and long-term plans for the 

Company’s continued development and operation;  

 Monitoring the implementation of these objectives, strategies and long-term plans 

to ensure the Company, to the best of its ability, delivers shareholder value; 

 Approval of capital expenditure; 

 Monitoring the Company’s overall performance and financial results, including 

adopting annual budgets and approving the Company’s financial statements; 

 The management of the treasury function of the Company and approving capital 

management decisions; 

 Ensuring that adequate systems of internal control exist and are appropriately 

monitored for compliance; 

 Selecting and reviewing the performance of the Managing Director; 

 Ensuring significant business risks are identified and appropriately managed; 

 Ensuring that the Company meets the statutory, regulatory and reporting 

requirements of the ASX and requirements under the Corporations Act; and  

 Reporting to shareholders on performance. 

 

The Board currently consists of a Non-Executive Chairman, Managing Director and two 

Non-Executive Directors. The term of Directors’ appointments is governed by the 

Company’s Constitution. At least one third in number of the Directors, other than a 

Managing Director, must retire and seek re-election at each Annual General Meeting of 

the Company. In addition, all Directors appointed to the Board during the year must 

stand for election at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 



  

  76 
 
 

 

From time to time, the Board may determine to establish specific purpose sub-

committees to deal with specific issues. In this regard, the Board has established an 

Audit Committee, a Remuneration and Nomination Committee and a Safety and 

Environment Committee.  

 

Composition of the Board 

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement and details of their 

skills and experience are detailed in the Directors’ Report. 

 

The composition of the Board is determined in accordance with the constitution.  

There are four members of the Board of Directors with a majority of Non-Executive 

Directors.  Mr S Ball, Mr N Halliday and Mr D Scoggin are considered Independent 

Directors of the Company, according to the definitions by the Australian Securities 

Exchange Corporate Governance Council ("Council"). 

 

The Board comprises Directors with a broad range of expertise both nationally and 

internationally. 

 

The membership of the Board, its activities and composition is subject to periodic 

review. The criteria for determining the identification and appointment of a suitable 

candidate for the Board shall include quality of the individual, background of experience 

and achievement, compatibility with other Board members, credibility within the 

Company’s scope of activities, intellectual ability to contribute to the Board duties and 

physical ability to undertake Board duties and responsibilities. 

 

Independent Professional Advice 

Each Director has the right to seek independent professional advice in the furtherance 

of their duties as directors at the Company’s expense. However, prior approval of the 

Chairman is required. 

 

All Directors are able to access members of the management team at any time to 

request information on the activities of the Company. 

 

Board Performance 

The Chairman evaluates the performance of each director, and the Board evaluates the 

performance of the Chairman. Performance of senior executives is evaluated by the 

Chairman. All performance evaluations are measured against budget, goals and 

objectives set. 
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Audit Committee   

The Board does not have a separate audit committee.  Given the size and composition 

of the Board and the nature of the Company’s activities, the Board performs the role of 

the audit committee.  In carrying out this function, the Board fulfils the following 

responsibilities when it convenes as the audit committee:  

 

 Assess the appropriateness of accounting policies, practices and disclosures and 

whether the quality of financial reporting is adequate; 

 Ensure that the appropriate accounting policies and procedures are implemented; 

 Review the scope and results of external and compliance audits and the adequacy 

and quality of the audits;  

 Maintain open lines of communication between the Board and external auditors; 

 Reviewingproposed annual reports and financial statements, and the half-yearly 

financial reports; 

 Assess the adequacy of the Company’s internal controls and whether they are of a 

sufficiently high standard to provide timely and accurate information for the proper 

management of the business; 

 Make informed decisions regarding compliance policies, practices and disclosures; 

 Assist in monitoring and controlling the financial aspects of the Company’s business 

risks; and 

 Nominate the external auditors. 
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Remuneration and Nominee Committee   

The Board does not have a separate remuneration and nominee committee.  Given 

the size and composition of the Board and the nature of the Company’s activities, the 

Board performs the role of the remuneration and nominee committee.  In carrying out 

this function, the Board fulfils the following responsibilities when it convenes as the 

remuneration and nominee committee:  

 considering the terms and conditions of remuneration for each director (with that 

director abstaining from such discussions); 

 Reviewing the composition of the Board to ensure it comprises an appropriate mix 

of skills and experience and, if appropriate, proposing suitable nominees as 

Directors to the Board; and 

 reviewing general employment policies. 

 

The Committee will assess the performance and recommend the remuneration of the 

Managing Director. 

 

 

Code of Ethics 

The Company recognises the need for every Director, officer, employee, agent, sub-

contractor and consultant of the Company to observe the highest standards of behaviour 

and business ethics. All are expected to act in accordance with the law and with the 

highest standard of propriety. The Company has a formal Code of Conduct as per 

Recommendation 3.1. This code outlines how Directors and employees of the Company 

and its related bodies corporate are to behave when conducting business.  A full copy 

of this Code of Conduct is available on the Company’s website. 

 

All Directors and employees are expected to act with the utmost integrity and objectivity, 

striving at all times to enhance the reputation and performance of the Company. 

 

Disclosure of Information 

Continuous Disclosure to ASX 

The continuous disclosure policy requires all executives and Directors to inform the 

Managing Director of any potentially material information as soon as practicable after 

they become aware of that information. 

 

Information is material if it is likely that the information would influence investors who 

commonly acquire securities on ASX in deciding whether to buy, sell or hold the 

Company’s securities. 

 

The Executive Chairman is responsible for interpreting and monitoring the Company’s 

disclosure policy and where necessary informing the Board. The Company Secretary is 

responsible for all communications with the ASX. 



  

  79 
 
 

The Role of Shareholders 

The Board of Directors aims to ensure that the shareholders are informed of all major 

developments affecting the Company’s state of affairs. Information is communicated to 

shareholders as follows: 

 

The annual report is distributed to all shareholders (unless a shareholder has specifically 

requested not to receive the document). The Board ensures that the annual report 

includes relevant information about the operations of the group during the year, changes 

in the state of affairs of the group and details of future development, in addition to the 

other disclosures required by the Corporations Act 2001.   

 

Half-year financial reports, prepared in accordance with the requirements of Accounting 

Standards and the Corporations Act 2001, are lodged with the Australian Securities and 

Investment Commission and the Australian Securities Exchange. The half-year financial 

reports are sent to any shareholder who requests them and quarterly reports are 

submitted to the Australian Securities Exchange under the requirements of the ASX 

relating to mining companies.  

 

Role of auditor 

The Corporations Act 2001 requires the auditor to attend the Annual General Meeting 

and to be available to answer shareholders questions about the conduct of the audit 

and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.  

  

Risk Management  

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the Group’s risk management and control 

framework. Responsibility for control and risk management is delegated to the 

Executive Chairman who has ultimate responsibility to the Board for the risk 

management and control framework of the Group. 

 

Integrity of Financial Reporting  

The Company’s Executive Chairman and Company Secretary who is acting as Chief 

Financial Officer have reported in writing to the Board that: 

 

 The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its entities for the half 

and full year present a true and fair view, in all material aspects, of the Company’s 

financial condition and operational results and are in accordance with accounting 

standards; 

 The above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 

compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board; and 

 The Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control framework is 

operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects. 
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Remuneration Arrangements  

The Board remuneration policy is to ensure that remuneration properly reflects the 

relevant person’s duties and responsibilities. The Board believes that the best way to 

achieve this is to provide executives or consultants with a remuneration package 

consisting of fixed components and incentives that reflect the person’s responsibilities, 

duties and personal performance. 

 

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Board as a whole 

having regard to the level of fees paid to Non-Executive Directors by other companies 

of similar size in the industry. 

 

The amount payable to the Company’s Non-Executive Directors must not exceed the 

maximum annual amount approved by the Company’s shareholders of $160,000.    

 

Information on the role of the board when convening as remuneration & nomination 

committee is contained in a separate heading within this Corporate Governance 

Statement. 

 

Interests of Other Stakeholders 

The Company’s operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations 

under the relevant government’s legislation. Full compliance with these laws and 

regulations is regarded as a minimum standard for the Company to achieve. 

 

The table below summarises the status of the Company’s compliance with each 

of the recommendations contained in the 3rd Edition of the ASX Principles and 

Recommendations, and discloses reasons for non-compliance where necessary. 
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ASX Principles and Recommendations Status 

1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

 

1.1 Companies should establish and 

disclose the respective roles and 

responsibilities of Board and 

management and those matters 

expressly reserved to the Board and 

those delegated to Management. 

Compliant.  

The role of the Board, delegations of 

authority, and powers of the Board have 

been formalised in the Board Charter, and 

have been disclosed on the Company 

website and in the Corporate Governance 

Statement. 

 

1.2 A listed entity should: 

 Undertake appropriate checks 

before appointing a person, or 

putting forward to security 

holders a candidate for election, 

as a director. 

 Provide security holders with all 

material information in its 

possession relevant to a 

decision on whether or not to 

elect or re-elect a director 

Compliant. 

The Board will ensure that prior to 

appointing a director or recommending a 

new candidate for election as a director that 

appropriate checks are undertaken as to 

the persons suitability for serving on the 

Board of the Company and which would be 

relevant to a decision on whether or not to 

elect or re-elect a Director. 

1.3 A listed entity should have a written 

agreement with each director and senior 

executive setting out the terms of their 

appointment 

Non-Compliant.  

The Company currently has implemented 

services agreements with each director.  

 

1.4 The Company Secretary of a listed entity 

should be accountable directly to the 

Board, through the Chair, on all matters 

to do with the proper functioning of the 

Board 

 

 

Compliant.  

The Company Secretary is accountable to 

the Board, through the Chair, on all matters 

to do with the proper functioning of the 

Board. 
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1.5 A listed entity should: 

 Have a diversity policy which 

includes requirements for the 

Board or a relevant committee of 

the Board to set measurable 

objectives for achieving gender 

diversity and to assess annually 

both the objectives and the 

entity’s progress in achieving 

them 

 Disclose that policy or a 

summary of it 

 Disclose at the end of each 

reporting period the measurable 

objectives for achieving gender 

diversity set by the Board, and 

the respective proportions of 

men and women on the Board, in 

senior executive positions and 

across the whole organisation 

(including a definition of ‘senior 

executive’) 

Non-Compliant.  

Whilst the Board has not implemented a 

formal Diversity Policy due to the size of the 

Company it believes that promotion of 

diversity in senior management and within 

the Company is generally good practice. 

 

The Board has not set measurable 

objectives for achieving gender diversity at 

this time. The Company has no female 

employees or members of the Board. As 

the Company increases in size the Board 

will review its practices and implement 

formal diversity policies as appropriate to 

its activities. 

 

1.6 A listed entity should: 

 Have and disclose a process for 

periodically evaluating the 

performance of the Board, its 

committees and individual 

directors 

 Disclose in relation to each 

reporting period whether a 

performance evaluation was 

undertaken in the reporting 

period in accordance with that 

process 

Non-Compliant. 

The Company does not have a formal 

process for the evaluation of the 

performance of the Board and as such does 

not comply with Recommendation 1.6 of the 

Corporate Governance Council. The 

Chairman assesses the performance of the 

Board, individual directors and key 

executives on an informal basis.  
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1.7 A listed entity should: 

 Have and disclose a process for 

periodically evaluating the 

performance of its senior 

executives 

 Disclose in relation to each 

reporting period whether a 

performance evaluation was 

undertaken in the reporting 

period in accordance with that 

process 

Non-compliant 

The Company does not have a formal 

process for the evaluation of the 

performance of the senior executives. The 

Chairman assesses the performance of the 

Board, individual directors and key 

executives on an informal basis. 

2 Structure the Board to add value 

 

2.1 The Board of a listed entity should: 

 Have a nomination committee 

which has at least 3 members 

(majority independent), be 

chaired by an independent 

director, disclose the committee 

charter, disclose the committee 

members, and disclose at the 

end of each reporting period the 

number of times the committee 

met during the reporting period 

and individuals attendance 

 If it does not have a nomination 

committee disclose that fact and 

the processes it employs to 

address Board succession 

issues and to ensure that the 

Board has the appropriate 

balance of skills, knowledge, 

experience, independence and 

diversity to enable it to discharge 

its duties and responsibilities 

effectively 

Non-Compliant.  

The Board has considered the need for a 

nomination committee, and believes that 

the Company is not of a size to justify the 

establishment of a separate committee.  

 

At this stage it is believed more appropriate 

for such responsibilities to be met by the full 

Board rather than a separate committee.  
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2.2 A listed entity should have and disclose 

a Board skills matrix setting out the mix 

of skills and diversity that the Board 

currently has or is looking to achieve in 

its membership 

Non-Compliant. 

The Company has not prepared a formal 

skills matrix for the Board. 

However, the Board believe that the skills of 

the current Board are sufficient for the 

Company in its present stage of 

development. 

The Company will consider reviewing the 

Board composition in response to any 

actual or proposed changes in the 

Company’s activities or operations. 

 

2.3 A listed entity should disclose: 

 The names of the directors 

considered by the Board to be 

independent directors 

 If a director has an interest, 

position, association or 

relationship of the type described 

in Box 2.3 (independence 

guidelines) but the Board is of 

the opinion that it does not 

compromise the independence 

of the director, the nature of the 

relationship and an explanation 

of why the Board is of that 

opinion 

 The length of service of each 

director 

Compliant. 

 

1) Nathan Featherby, Executive 

Chairman, has been a director of 

the Company for 1 year (since 

September 2016), and is not 

considered an independent director. 

 

2) Saxon Ball, non-executive director, 

has been a director of the Company 

for 10 months (since November 

2016) and is considered an 

independent director. 

 

 

3) Nicholas Halliday, non-executive 

director, has been a director of the 

Company for 9 months (since 

December 2016) and is considered 

an independent director. 

 

4) David Scoggin, non-executive 

director, has been a director of the 

Company for 9 months (since 

December 2016) and is considered 

an independent director. 
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2.4 A majority of the Board of a listed entity 

should be independent directors 

Non-Compliant.  

The Board currently comprises four 

directors, three of whom are independent. 

The Board considers that its composition is 

appropriate at the current time. 

2.5 The Chair of the Board of a listed entity 

should be an independent director and, 

in particular, should not be the same 

person as the CEO of the entity 

Non-Compliant.  

Due to the size and nature of the 

Company’s operations, the Company does 

not have an independent Chairman. Mr 

Nathan Featherby, the Company’s 

Chairman, is an executive director and is 

accordingly not considered an Independent 

Director.  

2.6 A listed entity should have a program for 

inducting new directors and provide 

appropriate professional development 

opportunities for directors to develop 

and maintain the skills and knowledge 

needed to perform their roles as 

directors effectively 

Non-Compliant.  

The Company does not have a formal 

program for inducting new directors, due to 

the size of its board. However, it does 

provide new directors with access to 

professional development if required and it 

does provide a director’s agreement to 

director’s which describes the expectations 

and responsibilities that will come with the 

role. 

3 Act ethically and responsibly 

3.1 A listed entity should: 

 Have a code of conduct for its 

directors, senior executives and 

employees, and 

 Disclose that code or a summary 

of it 

Compliant.  

The Company has a Code of Conduct for 

its directors, senior executives and 

employees. The Code of Conduct can be 

found on the Company’s website. 

 

4 Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting 
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4.1 The Board of a listed entity should: 

 Have an audit committee which 

has at least 3 members (all of 

whom are non-executive 

directors and a majority 

independent), be chaired by an 

independent director who is not 

Chair of the Board, disclose the 

committee charter, the relevant 

qualifications and experience of 

the members of the committee, 

and disclose at the end of each 

reporting period the number of 

times the committee met during 

the reporting period and 

individuals attendance 

 If it does not have an audit 

committee disclose that fact and 

the processes it employs that 

independent verify and 

safeguard the integrity of its 

corporate reporting, including the 

processes for the appointment 

and removal of the external 

auditor and the rotation of the 

audit engagement partner 

Non-Compliant.  

Due to the size and nature of the Board 

itself, the Board does not have a separate 

audit committee.   

The audit committee does not have a formal 

charter however its roles and 

responsibilities are outlined above, along 

with its composition, and structure. Minutes 

of meetings are kept within the Board’s 

minutes. There is also no formal reporting 

mechanism between the Audit Committee 

and Board due to the duplication of 

membership and the detailed report tabled 

by the auditor who attends the Board 

meeting by invitation. 

4.2 The Board of a listed entity should, 

before it approves the entity’s financial 

statements for a financial period, receive 

from its CEO and CFO a declaration 

that, in their opinion, the financial 

records of the entity have been properly 

maintained and that the financial 

statements comply with the appropriate 

accounting standards and give a true 

and fair view of the financial position and 

performance of the entity and that the 

opinion has been formed on the basis of 

a sound system of risk management and 

internal control which is operating 

effectively 

Compliant. 

The Board receives a declaration form the 

Executive Chairman and Company 

Secretary before approving the financial 

statements. 
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4.3 A listed entity that has an AGM should 

ensure that its external auditor attends 

its AGM and is available to answer 

questions from security holders relevant 

to the audit 

Compliant.  

The Company ensures that the 

engagement audit partner, or their 

representative, attends the AGM. 

The Company will enable security holders 

to ask questions relevant to the audit at, or 

ahead of, its AGM. 

5 Make timely and balanced disclosure 

5.1 A listed entity should: 

 Have a written policy for 

complying with its continuous 

disclosure obligations and the 

listing rules, and 

 Disclose that policy or a 

summary of it 

Compliant.  

The Company’s policies and procedures for 

compliance with the ASX Listing Rule 

disclosure requirements are included in the 

Company’s Continuous Disclosure Policy 

and Procedure document on the Company 

website. 

6 Respect the rights of security holders 

 

6.1 A listed entity should provide information 

about itself and its governance to 

investors via its website 

Compliant.  

The Company provides information about 

itself and its governance to investors via its 

website. Investors are able to contact the 

Company by phone or email. 

6.2 A listed entity should design and 

implement an investor relations program 

to facilitate effective two-way 

communication with investors 

Non-Compliant.  

The Company does not have an investor 

relations program in place, due to the size 

and nature of the Company’s operations.  

Investors are able to contact the Company 

by phone or email. 

6.3 A listed entity should disclose the 

policies and processes it has in place to 

facilitate and encourage participation at 

meetings of security holders 

Non-Compliant.  

The Company does not have a formal policy 

in place, however it does encourage 

shareholder participation at all general 

meetings. 

6.4 A listed entity should give security 

holders the option to receive 

communications from, and send 

communications to, the entity and its 

security registry electronically 

Compliant.  

The Company encourages electronic 

communications, refer to the Shareholder 

Communications Policy on the Company’s 

website. 

7 Recognise and manage risk 
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7.1 The Board of a listed entity should: 

 Have a committee, or 

committees, to oversee risk, 

each of which has at least 3 

members (majority 

independent), be chaired by an 

independent director, disclose 

the committee charter, disclose 

the committee members, and 

disclose at the end of each 

reporting period the number of 

times the committee met during 

the reporting period and 

individuals attendance 

 If it does not have a risk 

committee, or committees that 

satisfy the above requirements, 

disclose that fact and the 

processes it employs for 

overseeing the entity’s risk 

management framework 

Non-Compliant.  

The Company does not have a separate 

risk committee, due to the size and nature 

of its operations. The Company works with 

skilled technical advisors in relation to its 

operations who assist with ensuring that 

risks relating to activities are adequately 

managed and prevented.  

 

The Board is responsible for managing 

material business risks and is very mindful 

of the operating risks in the localities in 

which it works. To the extent the 

Company’s operations expand or increase 

in size, the Board will review the policies for 

risk management. 

 

7.2 The Board, or committee, of the Board 

should: 

 Review the entity’s risk 

management framework at least 

annually to satisfy itself that it 

continues to be sound, and 

 Disclose in relation to each 

reporting period whether such a 

review has taken place 

Non-Compliant.  

The Board has not undertaken a formal 

review of material business risks in the 

current financial year due to the variation 

throughout the year in the Company’s 

activities 

7.3 A listed entity should disclose: 

 If it has an internal audit function, 

how the function is structured 

and what role it performs, or 

 If it does not have an internal 

audit function, that fact and the 

processes it employs for 

evaluating and continually 

improving the effectiveness of its 

risk management and internal 

control processes 

Compliant.  

The Company does not have an internal 

audit function. 

 

The Board oversees risk management and 

is moving to establish an appropriate 

strategy and framework. 

 

The processes adopted to date have been 

appropriate for the Company’s size. 
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7.4 A listed entity should disclose whether it 

has any material exposure and social 

sustainability risks, and if it does, how it 

manages or intends to manage those 

risks 

Non-Compliant. 

Policies on risk oversight and management 

have not been implemented. The Board is 

of the view that once full field operations are 

re commenced the potential for material 

exposure to social sustainability risks will 

increase. 

8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

Companies should ensure that the level and composition of remuneration is sufficient 

and reasonable and that its relationship to performance is clear 

8.1 The Board of a listed entity should: 

 Have a remuneration committee 

which has at least 3 members 

(majority independent), be 

chaired by an independent 

director, disclose the committee 

charter, disclose the committee 

members, and disclose at the 

end of each reporting period the 

number of times the committee 

met during the reporting period 

and individuals attendance 

 If it does not have a 

remuneration committee 

disclose that fact and the 

processes it employs for setting 

the level and composition of 

remuneration for directors and 

senior executives and ensuring 

that such remuneration is 

appropriate and not excessive 

Non-Compliant.  

The Company does not have a separate 

Remuneration Committee.  

 

The Board has considered the need for a 

remuneration committee, and believes that 

the Company is not of a size to justify the 

establishment of a separate committee.  

 

The responsibilities in this area are being 

met by the full Board.  

8.2 A listed entity should separately disclose 

its policies and practices regarding the 

remuneration of non-executive directors 

and the remuneration of executive 

directors and other senior executives 

Compliant.  

The Company’s remuneration report, which 

is published in the Annual Report, provides 

information regarding remuneration policy 

and also sets out the specific remuneration 

of directors and other senior executives. 
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8.3 A listed entity which has an equity based 

remuneration scheme should: 

 Have a policy on whether 

participants are permitted to 

enter into transactions (whether 

through the use of derivatives or 

otherwise) which limit the 

economic risk and participation 

in the scheme, and 

 Disclose that policy or a 

summary of it 

Compliant.  

The Company does not have an Equity 

based remuneration scheme, however it 

specifically prohibits directors and 

executives of the Company from entering 

into arrangements for the purpose of 

limiting the economic risk of any securities 

which are held. Refer to the Company 

Securities Trading Policy available on the 

website. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  




